1978

Richard Ross v. Carol Ross et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by plaintiff Richard Ross to modify a California divorce decree, with a counterclaim by Carol Ross for judgment as to arrearages in child support and alimony.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried by the Court, sitting without a jury, commencing on March 3, 1978, and continuing until March 17, 1978, whereon the matter was concluded.

Subsequent to the trial, the trial court issued a Memorandum Decision (R. 215-216) wherein it found the doctrines of laches, equitable estoppel, and presumably, release and waiver, not to apply to the case, and granted judgment against plaintiff on defendant's counterclaim for the sum of \$31,151 as the amount due after deductions for certain amounts credited and paid by plaintiff. The Court also granted judgment in favor of the Utah State Department of Social Services in the sum of \$1,544, for reimbursement of welfare paid to the defendant. The trial court eventually entered an Amended Order dated April 11, 1978, wherein, after making all deductions, judgment was granted against the plaintiff in the sum of \$24,451 in favor of defendant, and against plaintiff in the sum of \$1,544, in favor of the Department of Social Services.

At the same trial, the Court modified the California divorce decree reducing the alimony from \$150 to "0" , and

the child support from \$100 per child to \$75 per child.

(T. 231-2)

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, Richard Ross, seeks reversal of the judgments against him in favor of both Carol Ross and the Department of Social Services for arrearages in child support and alimony, on the grounds of equitable estoppel, waiver and release. In order to economize on space, plaintiff has also included in this brief his argument which would normally be presented in the response to the brief of defendant Carol Ross, who is appealing the modification of the California decree. Therefore, plaintiff seeks also that the trial court's judgment modifying the California decree be upheld.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties in this action were originally divorced in California in February, 1971. The defendant herein was awarded alimony in the sum of \$150 per month and child support in the sum of \$100 per month per child for each of three minor children whose ages at that time were 6, 9 and 10. In that action, the defendant herein was the plaintiff. Prior to trial in this matter in Utah, the parties stipulated that the California divorce decree should be adopted by this Court. (R. 37-8)¹

At the time of the California divorce, the plaintiff was employed as a mechanic and making approximately \$1,000 per month. (T. 190)² His wife, Carol Ross, was awarded the California home which she sold sixteen months later for a \$25,000 profit. (T. 215) Mr. Ross was not represented by counsel at that California proceeding. (T. 155)

The plaintiff frankly and honestly testified that immediately after the California proceeding, he left the state of California for Dallas, Texas, where he began living under an assumed name (Henderson). He candidly stated his reasons as wanting to avoid making the payments under the

¹The record, aside from the transcript of the trial, will be designated by "R.", and the numbering refers to the stamped number on the lower right.

²The transcript will be designated by "T.", and the numbering will refer to the typed number on the upper, right hand side of the page.

divorce decree because he couldn't afford them and didn't want to go to jail. (T. 10, 155) He made no attempt to justify this action at trial. (T. 10, 155)

Plaintiff nonetheless evinced a genuine concern for the welfare of the children since he called his mother, Mrs. Mary McKendrick, who lived near the children, immediately upon his arrival in Texas and inquired about their welfare. (T. 82-3, 153-4) Both the plaintiff, and his mother, who flew in from California, testified that in these conversations that occurred in the days immediately after he left California, plaintiff stated that he would send between \$200 and \$250 per month for the support of the children by means of a check to Mrs. McKendrick. Mrs. McKendrick was thereupon instructed to purchase clothing, food, etc. for the children and take it to them directly. (T. 83-4, 12, 153-5)

Mrs. McKendrick affirmed that she did receive on the average of \$200 to \$225 per month and that she did spend the same, every dollar of it, for the welfare of the children. (T. 83, 85, 90) Mrs. McKendrick further indicated that a number of the checks came from Mr. Ross' roommate and some came by way of money orders because Mr. Ross had not yet become established in the new town. (T. 88) As further evidence of concern for the family, he instructed Mrs. McKendrick to deliver to Carol an automobile for her use (T. 89), which she admitted receiving and using. (T. 61)

Defendant first claimed not to have had contact again with the plaintiff until February, 1973 (T. 34), but

later admitted under cross-examination that plaintiff called her as early as October, 1972. (T. 59) Prior to that, Carol had made efforts to locate the plaintiff by going to the district attorney's office in California to seek legal action against plaintiff. (Ex. 25, letter of 11/20/72 from the Department of Welfare, San Mateo County, Cal.) Mr. Zambos, a special investigator for the Department of Recovery Services, also testified that the defendant went on welfare in Salt Lake City in October, 1972, and that from that time, through approximately September, 1973, his department was looking for the plaintiff to enforce his support obligations. (T. 102-108)

Although Carol first claimed not to have heard from plaintiff or discussed child support with him, until February 18, 1973 (T. 34, 62), she later admitted that he called her in January, 1973, and told her of his desire to "make some arrangements for it (child support)". (T. 63)

Both plaintiff and defendant testified that plaintiff flew to Salt Lake City in February, 1973, rented a car, and lived in a motel, for approximately three days, during which time he saw the children and the defendant on several occasions. (T. 65-7; 160-1)

Beginning in March, 1973, defendant Carol Ross received support money directly from plaintiff by way of checks. (T. 35, 70; Ex. 13) Plaintiff could account for approximately \$310 for a period of roughly six months. (Ex. 2, schedule B) The checks contained plaintiff's

Texas address, phone number and alias name. (Ex. 13)

In October, 1972, defendant went on welfare in Salt Lake City, Utah. (T. 68) She executed an "assignment" which assigned to the Division of Family Services ". . . all monies payable to me. . . from Richard Ross". (T. 68-9, 130; Ex. 4) Despite the assignment, defendant accepted \$310 directly from Mr. Ross during the period from March through September, 1973 (T. 72), none of which defendant ever reported to welfare. (T. 73-5)

Plaintiff testified that the parties had an understanding between themselves to the effect that he would only have to pay child support and he could forget the alimony and arrearage in child support. (T. 17, 19, 159, 161, 172) Defendant denied such an agreement or understanding. (T. 65-8, 62) (But see T. 136, lns. 23-5)

At least as early as March, 1973, defendant knew plaintiff's exact address and the alias he was using since he began sending her checks with his return address on them. (T. 35, 70 and Exs. 13; 2, schedule B) Defendant never made any effort, at any time, to notify Recovery Services, welfare, or any other officials of plaintiff's whereabouts (T. 131-2), nor did she attempt to force him to pay any back child support during this period. (T. 134-5, 63-4, 71)

The Division of Recovery Services did institute a legal proceeding in November, 1973, in Utah against the plaintiff in Texas, but said proceeding was later dropped prior to service (apparently after the Attorney General

discovered the settlement). (T. 113 and Ex. 20) Defendant was totally unaware that said action was filed. (T. 130)

The October, 1972, "assignment", wherein Carol transferred to the Division of Family Services all monies payable from the plaintiff, also authorized the compromising of any and all claims without further notice to herself.

(T. 68-9, 130 and Ex. 4)

Plaintiff himself later initiated contact with Recovery Services, without ever having been contacted or found by them, in approximately July, 1973, through a Dallas attorney. (T. 27-30; Exs. 17-19) Plaintiff later called Mr. Zambos personally and alleged to have arrived at an agreement whereby certain amounts would be paid every month and the arrearage would be compromised. (T. 30, 161-4 and Ex. 16) This was disputed by Mr. Zambos. (T. 115-6, 152)

After the alleged agreement, plaintiff made regular payments to the Family Support Division as follows (T. 27-30 and Ex. 15):

- a. Two checks dated August 4, 1973, and September 17, 1973, for \$232 each for a total of: \$ 464.00
- b. Payments for the balance of 1973 to Recovery Services by check: \$ 650.00
- c. Checks to Recovery Services, 1974: \$2,475.00
- d. Checks to Recovery Services, 1975: \$2,700.00

e. Checks to Recovery Services,

January, 1976:	<u>\$ 225.00</u>
Total:	\$6,514.00

In December, 1975, plaintiff visited Salt Lake City at the request of the defendant (T. 167-8, 20), and was at that time asked by defendant to return to Salt Lake City so that the children could have a father and a family. (T. 167-8) Plaintiff thereupon returned to Dallas, Texas, quit his job and incurred substantial detriment in moving all of his belongings to Salt Lake City. (T. 169-70)

Plaintiff and defendant began living together as man and wife in January or February, 1976, although they did not remarry. (T. 168, 142-3) They lived together at the home of defendant's parents until approximately September, 1976, at which time they purchased a house as "joint tenants, husband and wife". (T. 169-70, 144-5 and Exs. 32-34)

During this period when they were together, the plaintiff paid substantial sums for the support of the children and the defendant, as well as a \$5,000 downpayment on the home the parties purchased in September, 1976. (T. 173-6, Ex. 2, schedules C-G) Plaintiff has paid the house payment of approximately \$365 per month every month beginning September, 1976, through December, 1977. (T. 144-5) The defendant and the three children have lived in said house since September, 1976, and at all relevant times during this action. (T. 144-5)

During all relevant times from February, 1971,

through trial, defendant was a good mother, the children were well cared for, and suffered absolutely no want, hardship or privation. (T. 55, 96)

During the period from February, 1971, through the time when this legal action was filed, defendant never made any attempt whatsoever, or filed any claim, to collect alleged arrearages in child support and alimony. (T. 134-5, 63-4, 71, 130-2) Her counterclaim in this action alleging the arrearages was filed after she was served with the process in this action, as well as a separate suit for quiet title to the home. (T. 182)

POINT I

THE DOCTRINES OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL AND LACHES BOTH APPLY TO BAR THE DEFENDANT HEREIN FROM CLAIMING ARREARAGES IN CHILD SUPPORT AND ALIMONY. THE COURT MISUNDERSTOOD AND MISAPPLIED THE LAW IN THIS REGARD; THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY PREPONDERATES AGAINST THE FINDINGS MADE TO THE EFFECT THAT SAID DOCTRINES DO NOT APPLY; AND THIS HAS RESULTED IN SERIOUS INEQUITY AND A CLEAR ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

A
THE LAW OF THIS CASE

Standard on Appeal

This Court has held that divorce actions are equity proceedings and this Court may review the evidence and make its own findings. Barker v. Dunham, 9 Utah 2d 224, 342 P. 2d 867 (1959); Article VIII §9, Utah Constitution. However, the Supreme Court will not exercise this authority as a general rule since the trial court has considerable discretion in adjusting the financial and property interests of the parties. However, where the trial court has either misunderstood or misapplied the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error; or the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings made; or a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion, this Court will step in and reverse where appropriate. Hansen v. Hansen, 537 P. 2d 491 (Utah 1975); Owen v. Owen, 579 P. 2d 911 (Utah 1978). Plaintiff-Appellant makes all three contentions as grounds for reversal of the trial court's decision herein

Estoppel Was Clearly Justified in This Case

Defendant, due to explicit and/or implicit actions or representations, should be estopped from claiming or being awarded arrearages in child support and alimony. This Court has defined the standard in such cases:

It is the prerogative of the trial court to determine these facts and if he finds that facts exist to justify equitable estoppel, he should apply the doctrine and relieve the father of payment of the installments to the extent indicated. Larsen v. Larsen, 5 Utah 2d 224, 300 P. 2d 596 at 598 (1956).

The Trial Court's Findings

The trial court specifically found in its Memorandum Decision (R. 215) and its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (Findings Nos. 7, 8 and 9, and Conclusions of Law No. 8, R. 225-7) that the doctrines of equitable estoppel, laches and waiver did not apply to the facts of this case. The trial court thus granted judgment against plaintiff on defendant's counterclaim for arrearages in child support and alimony in the sum of \$24,457 (after deducting \$5,000 for the downpayment on the house) as well as \$1,544 against the plaintiff in favor of the Utah State Department of Social Services for welfare assistance paid to the defendant. (R. 229) This judgment is erroneous under the standards of Hansen and Owens, supra, and should be reversed.

The Standard of Larsen v. Larsen

Utah has recognized the principle of equitable estoppel and related doctrines to bar a mother from collecting a large, cumulative debt for arrearages in child support and alimony. In Larsen, the father responded to the mother's claim for arrearages in child support and alimony by alleging that the mother had refused to accept payments; that a third party was helping to support the child; that all the mother asked the father to do was refrain from seeing her and the child; and that the father had undertaken additional obligations in reliance upon the alleged agreement with, or actions of, the mother. The mother admitted that she had not tried to collect any of the back payments over a period of eight years.

The trial court ruled that equitable estoppel was not available as a defense for non-payment of accrued support for a minor child and the father appealed. 300 P. 2d at 597. The Supreme Court reversed noting that there was sufficient evidence that the trial court could reasonably find laches, acquiescence, or equitable estoppel. Id. The Court carefully distinguished between a claim that the alleged agreement or actions of the mother barred her recovery of past or accrued amounts, as opposed to a claim wherein the alleged agreement or actions were used as the basis for seeking a modification which would be binding for future payments. In this conjunction, the Court held:

However, this does not mean that a mother may not by her actions or representations, or both, preclude herself from recovering past-due installments of support money which she has spent for the support of the child. Where the father's failure to make such payments was induced by her representations or actions and where as a result of such representations or actions the father has been lulled into failing to make such payments and into changing his position which he would not have done but for such representations, and as a result of such failure to pay and change in his conditions, it will cause him great hardship and injustice if she is allowed to enforce the payment of such back installments, she may be thereby estopped from enforcing the payment of such back installments. (emphasis added) 300 P. 2d 597.

Justice Crockett emphasized in Baggs v. Anderson, 528 P. 2d 141 (Utah 1974) that support money falls into two separate categories:

First, the current and ongoing right of a child to receive support money from his father (parent); and second, the right to receive reimbursement for support of a child after that has been done. Id. at 143.

In the second instance, an estoppel to collect arrearages in support may arise where this essential element is found: some conduct on the part of the mother which reasonably induces the obligor to rely thereon and make some substantial change in his position to his detriment. (emphasis added) 528 P. 2d at 143. See also Clark v. Chipman, 510 P. 2d 1257 (Kan. 1973)

As to the mother's power to make representations

or take actions compromising arrearages in child support, the Court in Larsen noted:

If the child has been the beneficiary of equivalent support and education so that the mother is entitled to receive all of said past-due support money, she should be free to release, compromise, or waive that which is hers. 300 P. 2d 597.

The standard of equitable estoppel to collect arrearages in child support and alimony, as set forth in Larsen, was reaffirmed in several subsequent Utah cases other than Baggs.³ In French v. Johnson, 16 Utah 2d 360, 401 P. 2d 315 (1965) the standard of Larsen was recognized, although not applied. The plurality (with one concurring and two dissenting) felt that the facts simply showed "no representations, either explicit or implicit" by the wife to the husband. Id. at 315. The facts in French stand in contradistinction to the facts of the case at the bar where explicit representations or agreements or implicit representations (actions and conduct) are claimed.

Furthermore, although there was a dispute in this Court as to the application of the legal standard to the facts in French, Justice Crockett's statement in the dissenting opinion summarizes well the objective in this type of case:

³A recent Utah case presents some superficial fact similarities to the case at the bar. (See Ciraulo v. Ciraulo, 576 P. 2d 884 (1978)). However, in Ciraulo, the issue of equitable estoppel does not appear to have been raised. The main issue appears to have been substitution of benefits.

Nevertheless, it must be remembered that the equities are not always all on one side, and that each situation should be dealt with on its own facts and toward the objective which is fundamental to all such proceedings, that of best serving the welfare of all concerned. When viewed in that light, the circumstances may well be such as to justify the Court invoking its equitable power and refusing to enforce immediate collection of a large accumulated debt. 401 P. 2d at 317.

See also Wasescha v. Wasescha, 548 P. 2d 895 (Utah 1976).

The facts of the case at the bar compel the finding that the conduct of the defendant is such as to reasonably induce plaintiff to rely thereon and make some substantial change in his position.

B
REPRESENTATIONS AND IMPLICIT
AGREEMENT OR CONDUCT JUSTIFYING
RELIANCE

The Preponderance Of The Evidence
Showed At Least Implicit Representations
And Conduct By Defendant Which Compel The
Finding Of Equitable Estoppel As To The
Claims For Arrearages Of Both Child Support And Alimony

It is conceded that plaintiff was wrong in leaving defendant with three children in California after the divorce. (T. 10, 155)⁴ Appellant asks this Court simply to look at all the facts and circumstances which took place thereafter and which were ignored by the trial court. These facts point either to an implicit agreement or understanding based upon defendant's or her agent's representations or conduct, which justified plaintiff in taking action to his detriment, all of which form the basis for estoppel

Mr. Ross' Agreement With Mrs. Ross

Mr. Ross stated that Mrs. Ross made representation to him as early as October, 1972, to the effect that she would not consider him liable to pay the full amount under the divorce decree if he would simply start paying support for the children. (T. 15-17, 159) Mr. Ross further claimed

⁴It is also noted, however, that plaintiff had no attorney at the California hearing at which he was ordered to pay \$450 a month total on an income of approximately \$1,000 per month, and in which defendant was given the entire equity in the family home which she later sold for a \$25,000 profit. (T. 215)

to have had similar conversations in January, 1973, February, 1973, summer and fall of 1973, December, 1975, January, 1976, and at various times thereafter. (T. 19, 159, 160-1, 164-5, 172) Regarding the October, 1972, conversation, Mr. Ross testified as follows:

I don't remember the exact conversation, but we had talked, and I told her I wanted to see the kids. And she said, you know, she wouldn't push anything as long as I paid support, and it would be all right for me to come up there (Salt Lake City) and see the kids...this is all she really wanted is for me to take care of the kids. I told her I didn't mind doing this. (T. 17)

Regarding the February, 1973, conversations, Mr. Ross testified:

There is no way I can remember the exact words. The gist of the conversation was I would assume responsibility for taking care of the kids and she wouldn't hassle me on alimony. (T. 161)

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