1978

Richard Ross v. Carol Ross et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellee, Utah State Department of Social Services, seeks an affirmance of the judgment of the lower court against plaintiff appellant Richard Ross for \$1,544.00, representing reimbursement of welfare the State paid to defendant Carol Ross.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff and defendant were divorced in California in February 1971. The defendant was awarded alimony of \$150.00 per month and child support of \$100.00 per month per child for each of three children.

After the divorce decree the plaintiff left California for Texas, where he began living under an assumed name (Henderson), to avoid making the payments under the divorce decree. (T. 10, 15)

In October 1972, defendant Carol Ross went on welfare in Salt Lake City, Utah. (T.68) She executed an assignment to the Utah State Department of Social Services. (Ex.4) By virtue of the assignment the Department of Social Services, through a special investigator Mr. Theodore Lamborn, began unsuccessfully

trying to find Mr. Ross to seek reimbursement for the money the state was paying to the defendant. (T.106)

In July 1973, Mr. Ross initiated contact with Utah State Recovery Services through a Dallas attorney. (Ex.17) Mr. Ross subsequently called Mr. Zambos at Recovery Services, and a discussion between them took place. Mr. Zambos submitted a letter to Mr. Ross (Ex.16) in response to the phone conversation. (T.30, 161-4)

Later, in October 1973, Carol Ross went off welfare since she began receiving some support from Mr. Ross. (Ex. 15) When Mr. Ross began the present action to reduce the amount of support and alimony under the California divorce decree, the Utah State Department of Social Services intervened with a claim to recover \$1,854.00 for welfare payments it made to Carol Ross from October 1972 to October 1973.

Other facts are important with respect to the claims between the plaintiff and defendant. They are not critical, nor do they affect the State's position and are therefore omitted, allowing the plaintiff and defendant to cite the matters pertinent between them.

ARGUMENT

The State of Utah will respond to and argue those matters relevant to the appeal issues raised by the appellant/plaintiff regarding the State's position only. Some matters regarding the defendant and State of Utah are common points; thus, those matters will likewise be addressed.

POINT I

THE ASSIGNMENT GIVEN THE STATE BY MRS. ROSS WAS NOT OF UNLIMITED SCOPE, BUT WAS ONE RESTRICTIVE IN NATURE. IT DID NOT AUTHORIZE THE COMPROMISE OF "ALL" CLAIMS.

On October 25, 1972, Carol Ross, the defendant in this action, executed an "Assignment of Collection of Support Payments" in favor of the State of Utah. (Ex.4) Pursuant to said assignment, the State of Utah began efforts in attempting to locate Mr. Richard Ross as evidenced by Exhibit 25. Sometime in June or July 1973, Mr. Ross, through attorney B. Patrick Shaw, made contact with the Bureau of Recovery Services as evidenced in his attorney's letter to Mr. Ross dated July 24, 1973. (Ex.17)

Plaintiff would have this court believe that the assignment (Ex.4) grants broad powers to the State of Utah far beyond the actual money figure that the State had invested in Mrs. Ross. State rejects this contention of plaintiff. Such a position is without support or evidence. The assignment reads in part:

For public assistance received or to be received, I Carol D. Ross hereby and assign, transfer and set over to the Utah State Division of Family Services, all monies payable to me and/or my child from Richard M. Ross during the time I am or we are receiving public assistance and also past support and alimony due me, not in excess of amount due while receiving public assistance. . . (Emphasis added) (Ex.4)

Plaintiff claims this language, "Carte Blanche," authorizes the State to compromise, dismiss, exonerate, forgive, etc. amount "in excess" of what the State has expended in welfare payments. The language simply does not support plaintiff's position. It is easy to see how plaintiff is confused since plaintiff failed to quote the critical language in his brief. Plaintiff failed to

" . . . during the time I am or we are receiving public assistance . . . not in excess of amount due while receiving public assistance . . . " (Emphasis Added)

How the plaintiff can contend that the assignment goes beyond the restrictions contained above is beyond the understanding of the State. Not only did the State not try to exceed the authority above, it didn't exceed the authority of the assignment.

In the present action, Carol Ross was receiving approximately \$232.00 per month. Mr. Ross' obligation was \$450 (\$300 child support and \$150 alimony). Thus, when the State sued for the \$1,854.00 covering a several month period, the State of Utah in no way exceeded the amount due in total payments or in monthly payments. For an equivalent 8 or 9 month period, the amount due under the California decree would be approximately \$3,600 to \$4,050, which is arrived at by multiplying his monthly obligation of \$450 by eight and nine months respectively.

If, for example, the figures were reversed and Mrs. Ross was receiving \$450 per month from the State and Mr. Ross' obligation was \$232, the assignment could be interpreted to mean that the State of Utah is entitled to sue for alimony and/or child support payments extending beyond the period when Mrs. Ross was on welfare until the State gets judgment or funds equivalent to the total amount the State expended in her behalf. Such is not the case here, and therefore plaintiff's argument is self-defeating.

It has not been shown (1) that the State of Utah had the authority in this case to seek beyond what it did at trial, (2) that any attempt was ever made to seek more, (3) that the assignment itself authorizes what plaintiff contends, and (4) that any

thing happened showing any attempt to exercise more authority than what the assignment allows.

Since the assignment involves the use and recovery of "child support," such an assignment must be read in a restrictive nature. For the State of Utah to attempt to disregard the right of the custodial parent and children for support over and above what the State has given them, when in fact they are entitled to it, is unconscionable. Further, in this matter where the State interest (\$232) is not even equivalent to the amount the plaintiff was to pay for support of the children (\$300), the matter of the alimony being assigned for use of the State is not consistent. This is child support that was sought. The defendant Carol Ross was entitled to her right to the alimony that was not affected by the assignment, as well as excess child support owing.

What plaintiff is contending is that the assignment would allow the State to compromise a claim of an extremely large amount in this case \$25,000, to which the custodial parent is entitled to receive a comparably small amount, in this case \$1,500. Such a position is not supported, and certainly is not equitable. The assignment does not so provide.

Plaintiff cites the closing paragraph of the assignment to "prove" the State has authority to compromise her claim. This paragraph must be read as a whole with the entire document. The divorce decree is between plaintiff and defendant. Mrs. Ross is legally entitled to all support. By virtue of the assignment she allows the State to act for its share in return for the support given her and her children. The State's rights are derived from

her and are not independent except as assigned. Thus, if the

state had to obtain permission from the custodial parent every time it wanted to take an action, a burden "toogreat" would be placed on the State. In many instances, when women terminate welfare, the State no longer knows where they are. Thus, by assignment the State is authorized to act, sue, settle its entitlement under the assignment without requiring notice to the woman, in this case Mrs. Ross.

The State of Utah is therefore limited and not given unbounded authority in what it can and cannot do. The lower court rejected plaintiffs contention because it is an unsubstantiated position. As expressed above, this court should do the same.

POINT II

NOTWITHSTANDING THE INTERPRETATION OF THE STATE'S AUTHORITY UNDER THE ASSIGNMENT, THERE WAS NO AGREEMENT EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED WHEREBY THE STATE WAIVED ITS OWN OR MRS. ROSS' ARREARAGES.

Plaintiff somehow contends that "all " arrearages, both for the State of Utah and the defendant, were waived by the State. The record is clear that NO EXPRESSED, DEFINITE, PRECISE, ACKNOWLEDGED waiver has been produced in the record. The burden is plaintiffs and he has not met that burden.

The evidence presented by and relied on by plaintiff is two-fold: First, Mr. Ross' testimony of a telephone conversation which took place between him and Mr. Zambos in early October 1973, and second, a letter written to Mr. Ross by Mr. Zambos, dated October 4, 1973, which referred to the prior phone conversation.

(T.30-1, 161-4, Ex.16)

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

In reviewing the first position, Mr. Ross claims that it was in the phone conversation he had with Mr. Zambos that the actual compromise took place. (T.30-1, 161-4) Mr. Ross claims that Mr. Zambos told him that if he just paid \$225 per month, "everything would be fine." Mr. Zambos disputes that this conversation compromised the arrearages. (T.115-117) Mr. Zambos testified that in the several years he had been with the Bureau of Recovery Services he had never (1) made an agreement to accept less than the court-ordered amount in a divorce action if that amount would come to the State, and (2) compromised all arrearages for nothing, and he didn't believe he had the authority to do so. (T.119-21) Therefore, the testimony regarding the phone conversation is in dispute and up to the trier of fact to determine.

The State of Utah believes other testimony exists which will help interpret both the letter and phone conversation even if the court were to accept plaintiff's arguments at face value.

The evidence and testimony show that Mrs. Ross was receiving \$232 in the summer of 1973. Plaintiff's own attorney, via a letter to the plaintiff (Ex. 17), stated:

As per our telephone conversation, your ex-wife, Carol, is receiving \$232.00 per month from the Utah Bureau of Family & Children's Services. The Bureau suggest that you send this amount to them each month and that they will in turn see that Carol is given this amount. . . (Emphasis Added).

Then in Exhibits 18 and 19, Mr. B. Patrick Shaw sent letters to Mrs. Ross saying that Mr. Ross would be sending \$232 per month to the Office of Recovery Services. It is not inconsistent with the State's position for Mr. Zambos, for purposes of

simplification and uniformity, to say (hypothetically): "three children at \$75 per child is \$225 which is close to \$232, so we'll accept that amount for current support as long as she is on." Thus, as long as she is on and Mr. Ross pays \$225 per month (3 x \$75) everything would be fine. Is this compromising and dropping all past amounts? The State says no! Nowhere in the record is there evidence to substantiate plaintiffs contention.

The State of Utah, as expressed in Point I, only had the right to collect what it had paid out in this case. Therefore, at most it could collect \$232 per month, and after the phone conversation, for simplicity sake, Mr. Ross was allowed to fulfill his obligation to the State at the rate of \$75 per child for the future. The State did not have any right and made no attempt to discuss or handle Mrs. Ross' claim, which was the difference between the \$450 and the \$232 assigned to the State. The telephone conversation does not show otherwise.

Now, turning our attention to the letter referred to as Exhibit 16, is this letter inconsistent with the position that the State is entitled to \$232 or approximately \$75 per child? No, it is not. Sure, the State could have said that he is to pay \$77.33 1/3 per child or the equivalent of \$232. This is to allow that if one child would turn 18 or die or for some reason the welfare grant be reduced with one of the children out of the home, then the amount would be \$154.66 2/3. It is a cumbersome and unnecessary burden on both the State and the plaintiff to get involved

in the game of figures. Thus, if all three children are on welfare,

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library. Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

if only one, the obligation to the State is \$75. This is not inconsistent with what Exhibit 16 says, or with the understanding of Mr. Ross that all would be fine (for continuing support) or the understanding of plaintiff's attorney as evidenced by Exhibits 17-19.

The letter in question, though it speaks for itself, is to say the most open for several interpretations. Obviously the trial court, being able to see and hear all the evidence, rejects plaintiff's claim that the letter was evidence that all arrearages were forgiven -- which the letter does not say. The arrearages even mentioned.

The letter says as follows:

This will confirm our telephone conversation of October 2, 1973, at which time you agreed to pay \$75.00 a month child support for each child totaling \$225.00, effective September 1, 1973; furthermore, you agreed to double up on your payments to bring your account current by October 31, 1973. (Exhibit 16)

As indicated, this letter is open to several interpretations from both sides, and possibly more from those not involved in this matter. I will try to analyze several of them. It must be remembered, that as of October 4, 1973, Mrs. Ross was still receiving welfare and Mr. Ross had made a payment in August of \$232.00.

Interpretation #1: This interpretation is consistent with the previous discussion, above, that instead of \$77.33 1/3 per child, Mr. Ross could pay the State of Utah \$225 per month to meet his obligation beginning September 1, 1973. Though the record does not reflect whether Mr. Ross made a payment in September, if he had not, he could double up his payment for October and

become current on the ongoing obligation by October 31, 1973.

(T.30) This is the more logical and sound position. Under this interpretation, nothing is mentioned about the past amounts due, and nothing is said about Mrs. Ross' rights, which consist of the difference between what is due the State and what is due under the decree. The letter does not even refer to Mrs. Ross at all.

Interpretation #2: This interpretation is taken by plaintiff -- that the letter "modifies" the divorce decree and that the State of Utah had the power to do so and bind both the State and Mrs. Ross to an ongoing obligation of \$225.00 per month with the past amounts waived.

Plaintiff, here, is trying to make an ambiguous letter the "written proof" that the divorce is changed, the arrearages are waived for both parties, and that estoppel (because of some "agreement") should attach. The State does not agree. Even if the State had the authority, there are no specifics contained in the letter which substantiate plaintiff's claim. As minimal evidence of such a modification and waiver, the letter should have included: (1) That the decree was being changed to be what plaintiff says; (2) That alimony was waived (which was not mentioned in the letter); (3) That the arrearages were specifically waived with the naming of those involved; (4) The period of time the waiver was to cover (here only prospective payments to the State were mentioned). None of these matters was covered or mentioned in the letter. It is difficult to see how plaintiff can contend that the letter is so "clear" on these points. The court might possibly find that all the points alluded to are not necessary, or that they all

by plaintiff (Ex.16) not only are none of them mentioned, they aren't even alluded to.

Interpretation #3: This interpretation is that plaintiff was to pay \$225 per month for September and bring current his payments of \$450 per month by the end of October, including arrearages.

This position, as in interpretation two, is inconsistent with the facts, but is still a possible interpretation. Since the State was interested in having Mr. Ross send -- at most -- \$232 per month, requiring him to send the \$450 by the end of October probably was out of the scope of Mr. Zambos unless Mr. Ross voluntarily did so. It is just as logical to say the letter means to catch all back payments up the end of October as to say all back is waived.

Other interpretations: Any combination of the above and possibly other totally unrelated interpretations are possible. Clear is definitely one thing the letter "is not."

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